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     Introduction


    


  


  
    Why History's Rulers Were Much Worse Than Today's


    



    



    Nasty, brutish, and short.


    



    That is the way English philosopher Thomas Hobbes described the natural state of mankind and the condition into which humans inexorably fall without a strong, central authority. Since society cannot be ordered around the idea of the greatest good, Hobbes argued, the only recourse for them is to rally around avoiding the greatest evil: a violent death. Under this social contract, society and government can form. Without it, people would live in “continual fear, and danger of violent death.”


    



    However, Hobbes would likely agree that living under the wrong ruler could lead to violent death, as well because in his lifetime, people were being massacred all around him.


    



    He wrote his magnum opus Leviathan during the English Civil War, a violent conflict between the island’s political factions in the mid-1600s that brought about the deaths of 200,000 people. This number equaled five percent of the island's population, a figure that would equate to the deaths of 15 million Americans today. Life was not any better elsewhere. The European continent was mired in the 30 Year's War, during which nearly every country perpetuated slaughter in a fight for predominance of the continent. And this mayhem took place only a century after the bloody reign of Henry VIII, only a little more than a century after Spanish conquistadors witnessed Montezuma II offering up thousands of human sacrifices; and little more than four centuries after Genghis Khan rode throughout Eurasia, leaving enough death and destruction behind to depopulate major parts of the globe. Maybe Hobbes was right that strong government can protect from violent death, but as you’ll see in the pages ahead, strong government in the wrong hands can dramatically increase violent death.


    



    This book will look at the lives and times of the most brutal rulers in history. It will try to understand the individual circumstances that shaped these brutal rulers and brought about their violent tendencies. It will explore their personal decisions and convictions to maintain power by any means necessary. But it will also explore the historical social conditions of the past that compelled these rulers to take extremely violent measures to secure power, with measures that even today's most masochistic dictator would find unnecessary and even counter-productive to his rule.


    



    As a result, this book will not mention recent history's most infamous mass murderers, such as Adolph Hitler, Joseph Stalin, Pol Pot, and Mao Zedong. When we look deeper in the past, we find dictators who make their 20th century counterparts look civil by comparison. This book argues that rulers who reigned before the modern era (approximately 1850) committed acts of violence that were orders of magnitude worse than those committed in recent history. While they may not have ratcheted up numbers of murders as high as the aforementioned tyrants, they were just as bloodthirsty, if not more so.


    



    Why? Because a 20th-century dictator could kill millions more than his predecessors through the assistance of modern technology. Coordinating a program of mass murder is extremely difficult without a massive transportation network of roads, trains, and petroleum depots; modern weaponry such as small explosives, artillery, and automatic rifles; and communication technology such as telegraphs, postal systems, and telephones to administer such efforts. And these acts of violence did not touch individual lives the way that they did in the past. For example, the Holocaust (6 million deaths) and the Armenian Genocide (1.5 million deaths) were mostly carried out without the knowledge of non-military Germans and Ottoman citizens. In contrast, the massacres of Genghis Khan did not escape public attention; they completely destroyed the public in most cases. That these two acts of genocide could be carried out more or less behind the backs of the people suggests they were highly efficient operations carried out with an enormous level of organization and precision.


    



    But violence in the ancient past was more brutal and less clinical. This is true for a simple reason: governments back then did not have a monopoly on violence. This theory, originating from Max Weber, argues that a successful modern state has a claim on the monopoly of the legitimate use of physical force in the enforcement of order. That means that only the state can lawfully kill and attack people, and it does this by means of its soldiers and police officers. Even if private persons kill others in self-defense or own firearms, they are only doing so under the explicit permission of the state.


    



    But when states did not have a monopoly on violence, as was the case throughout most of history, then anyone with enough power could start attacking others, stealing their property, or killing innocents with no fear of constitutions or war crimes tribunals. Imagine for a moment that if in the United States all law enforcement, National Guard, and military personnel were disbanded (a typical scenario in post-apocalyptic thrillers). In this vacuum anyone with enough money could hire ex-soldiers to go out and loot stores and houses. This upstart-tyrant could also position his soldiers at checkpoints along highways and require people to pay a toll for entering his domain, or risk being shot. If he were a very successful tyrant then he could conquer significant territory and rule over a nascent state as a warlord (this scenario describes the situation in many unstable parts of the globe, from Sub-Saharan Africa to Afghanistan). But he would always have to watch his back to make sure that no other upstart tyrant challenged his rule. Paranoid of his enemies and especially his friends, he would have to constantly maintain the threat of violent force to keep away the competition. And there would be competition. He would not have a monopoly on violence, after all.


    



    Beyond this issue, the killing of hundreds of thousands with only horseback mounted soldiers, bows and arrows, and Greek fire, as was done from ancient times until a few hundred years ago takes a far nastier will than with modern weapons, in which missiles can be launched from a drone with the push of a button and wipe out an entire village. It took more resolve and desensitization to violence to rack up higher body counts by primitive means.


    



    Furthermore, the rulers in question often had to get their hands dirty through direct contact with violence. Hitler or Stalin commissioned mass murders from the safety of their desks with little exposure to the murders taking place hundreds or thousands of miles away. Genghis Khan and Attila the Hun, in contrast, were far more hands on. Their early careers as soldiers meant countless direct killings. They oversaw on-the-spot executions and sometimes carried them out themselves. And they usually joined the war effort, so their battle tents were never far behind enemy lines. They had a personal acquaintance with violence that would shape their brutal careers as dictators.


    With these aspects of pre-modern society in mind, it is more difficult to romanticize the past.


    



    Therefore, without any further ado, let us look at the lives and societies of the ten most brutal dictators in history.


    

  


  
     Chapter 1


    


  


  
    Herod the Great (73-4 B.C.):


    Rome's Infanticidal Ruler of Israel
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    Every Christmas thousands of children perform Nativity pageants depicting the birth of Jesus Christ. But in the background of the story lurks a villain whose jealousy against anyone who would challenge his rule was so extreme that God himself directly intervenes to warn Joseph and the three wise men to avoid him at all costs.


    



    Herod is the infamous perpetrator of the Massacre of the Innocents, the infanticide of all boys under the age of two in the vicinity of Bethlehem. His paranoid style of rule, the ruthless slaughter of his relatives, and remorseless brutality give him a well-deserved place as one of the most violent rulers in the ancient world.


    



    Herod the Great governed the Province of Judea under Roman rule. The empire left him a fair amount of autonomy provided that he could successful prevent rebellions or local uprisings. However, his constituent population of Jews were never reliable subjects. Jewish prophets had foretold for centuries of a coming messiah that would carry the world's government on his shoulders. The Jews of the day believed a redeemer would come that would destroy Roman rule over Israel. Herod knew this, and he crushed any hint of opposition with an iron fist.


    



    The reign of Herod the Great began Judea’s 129-year trek into the Herodian Dynasty. Herod's rule, beginning in 37 B.C., replaced the Hasmonean dynasty, which was founded by Simon Maccabeus, the famed Jewish military leader who created an autonomous Jewish state. Thought to be born somewhere between 74 and 73 B.C. in Idumea, an area south of Judea, Herod’s kingship was largely the result of his unrelenting tenacity to rule.


    



    Herod was the second son of Antipater the Idumean, who served under Ethnarch Hyrcanus II and Cypros, a Nabatean. When Herod was 25 years old, his father appointed him governor of Galilee. It took only ten years for Herod to then be appointed King of Judea. But there were always two things that proved troublesome for him about his reign.


    



    First, though Herod practiced Judaism, many of the Jews over which he ruled considered him to be an outsider who claimed to be a Jew only when it served him. Jews were descendants of Jacob, who was blessed, favored and chosen by God, according to Jewish tradition. And they retained a national right to self-govern. But as an Idumean, Herod’s father Antipater was of Edomite stock (Edom being another name for Esau, Jacob’s twin brother who was not favored by God). In Herod’s mind, this looming controversy always posed a very real threat to his kingship. So he practiced Judaism and took a Jewish woman, Mariamne I, to be his wife.


    



    His second problem was like the first. It was never his way to groom his successor, but rather to keep anyone from succeeding him. And therein lay the legend of his brutality as king.


    It was said that one would fare better as Herod’s pig than as his son. During his rule, Herod the Great slaughtered three of his male progeny (Alexander, Antipater, and Aristobulus), two brothers-in-law (Aristobulus III who was drowned at a party and Kostobar), and his second wife Mariamne I, whom he only took to secure the throne. He exiled his first wife Doris and their son, Antipater to marry Mariamne I. He also killed his second wife’s mother Alexandria, who made the mistake of trying to overthrow him. And, in an attempt to claim the life of the infant Jesus, Herod ordered the deaths of all the male infants in Bethlehem to prevent the rise of Jesus or any other Jewish boy who may lay claim to the throne. When Herod finally died, he had appointed three of his sons as high rulers (Antipas, Archelaus, and Philip) and none of them as king.


    



    But there were certainly other contributions for which Herod became known. Despite his maddening paranoia at the thought of losing his place as the king of a Roman client state, Herod the Great was smart, diplomatic, a gifted negotiator and quite industrious. He was extremely loyal to the Roman Emperors who ruled during his reign as king of Judea, an area that extended from the Mediterranean Sea on the west to the Dead Sea on the east, and from the area just south of Gaza to Joppa at the northern end.


    



    His loyalty to Rome aggravated Jews under his control as he stressed their subjugation to the pagan-ruled empire. He placed a golden eagle, the symbol of Roman rule, on top of the gateway to the Jewish Temple. This site was the holiest place in Judaism and believed to be the dwelling place of God's presence. The action caused an uprising, which he quickly put down with brutality.


    Although he employed the use of heavy taxation on his constituents early in his kingship, the territories in his governance experienced strong economic and cultural growth. As a result, Herod retained the wholehearted support of Rome. He embarked on a series of large-scale construction projects during his reign. In 28 B.C., a theatre and amphitheatre were constructed in Jerusalem.


    



    Five years later, he authorized the construction of his palace to be built in the northwest corner of Jerusalem and a fortress, Herodion, to be constructed in Judea. One year later, Herod founded the city of Caesarea Maritima and began the construction of a port there. By far, his most famous project was the expansion of the Second Temple in Jerusalem in the eighteenth year of his reign. The temple itself took less than two years to build, but the construction of the outbuildings and courts surrounding the temple went on for decades. However, it was mostly destroyed by the Romans when they put down a Jewish uprising in 70 A.D. Today, only the four retaining walls of the temple remain, one of which is the Western Wall, more commonly known as the Wailing Wall.


    



    Herod was known on occasion to provide tax breaks to his constituents at economically depressed times and even during the territory’s most prosperous times. He also developed water systems in Jerusalem, partnered with Cleopatra to extract asphalt from the Dead Sea for the construction of ships, financially backed the Olympic Games to ensure their continuance, rebuilt Samaria and renamed it Sebaste to honor Roman Emperor Augustus and organized an alliance with Egypt so he could import grains into his kingdom to combat hunger, scarcity and disease.


    



    Not a bad guy at all… unless you happened to be related to him, represented even the faintest challenge to his rule, or worried about keeping your head.


    

  


  
     Chapter 2


    


  


  
    Emperor Nero (37-68 A.D.):


    History's Most Notorious Arsonist and Fiddler
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    He inhabits the worst of Roman infamy and his name has become synonymous with criminal disregard for suffering because of the rumor that he played the fiddle during the Great Fire of Rome.


    



    Whether myths about his reign are true or apocryphal, Nero’s blood-soaked reputation is well earned. He ruled Rome from 54 to 68 A.D., a tumultuous time that saw revolts in Britain (60 - 61 A.D.) and Judea (66 - 70 A.D.). Following the disastrous fire of Rome, he blamed the Christian population for the alleged arson, ordering many to be burned or crucified. Other infamous acts include murdering multiple members of his family because of his paranoia about intrigues against his rule. He is also believed by early church history to be responsible for the martyrdoms of Peter and Paul, a plausible theory since the two church leaders died in Rome, according to tradition, and Nero was the first emperor to persecute the church. He cast such a large shadow over the early church that quite a few theologians then and even today thought he was the Anti-Christ described in the book of Revelations.


    



    Born just outside of Rome on the 15th day of December, 37 A.D., Nero was the last ruler of the Julio-Claudian dynasty to serve as Emperor of Rome. Originally named Domitius, the boy who later became known as Nero was extremely artistic and given to passions. It was his mother, Agrippina, who pushed him to become emperor and who essentially orchestrated his rise to power.


    



    In 49 A.D., Agrippina married her uncle, the emperor Claudius, in an effort to ensure that Domitius had a claim to the throne. At the time, the only other person standing between Domitius and the imperial throne was Britannicus, the son of Claudius. Agrippina was able to convince Claudius to adopt Domitius as his own and they renamed him Nero. Cunning as she was, Agrippina was still unable to close the deal that would result in Claudius naming Nero as his successor over Britannicus. So Agrippina had her husband poisoned.


    



    In truth, Nero did have a legitimate claim to the throne. If one were to trace his mother’s lineage, one would find that Nero was the only living direct male descendant of the emperor Augustus. But the final decision was to rest in the hands of Claudius and when it didn’t look like he would give in to his wife’s demands, Claudius found himself a casualty in an unwitting war with a very determined woman. Nero became emperor at the age of 17.


    



    Nero ruled 54 -- 68 A.D. with the promise of returning to the principles with which the great emperor Augustus had ruled. Despite having Britannicus poisoned just a year after becoming emperor, Nero seemed to demonstrate seamless governance during the first five years of his reign and quality leadership because of the wisdom of his two advisers, Burrus and Seneca, the philosopher. Agrippina also attempted to rule Rome jointly with her son. Her face even appeared on the coinage beside the emperor’s face. But it was the counsel of Burrus and Seneca advising Nero to refuse Agrippina’s wishes to rule Rome vicariously through her son that eventually led to her execution in 59 A.D.


    



    It is said that one of Nero’s goals was to essentially re-brand Rome. He wanted the outside world to see Rome as a place of humanity and beauty, not violence. But his dream would not come to pass in his lifetime. By 60 A.D., Rome was in turmoil. Revolts against Nero spread throughout provinces such as Britain. Also, costly wars and the emperor’s lavish spending had all but destroyed Rome’s currency. Taxes skyrocketed.


    



    In 62 A.D., Nero lost his advisors: Burrus died and Seneca retired and his reign took a horrific turn for the worse. Nero divorced, then executed his first wife, Octavia, and married his mistress Poppaea. In 64 A.D., Nero was suspected of starting the fire that destroyed much of Rome. In the aftermath of that fire, Nero did well in serving his subjects by opening municipal buildings and even his own garden to house those who were made homeless by the fire. But in an effort to conduct a bit of damage control and reputation management, Nero re-directed his own anger and the discontent of his subjects as a whole toward Christians, whom he used as scapegoats to carry the burdens of Rome’s problems. This began a long and bloody campaign of torture and murder for the last four years of his rule. Many of the torturous atrocities with which he is charged are the result of the Christian persecutions that occurred right after the fire.


    



    In a series of separate revolts beginning with one led by Gaius Calpurnius Piso in 65 A.D., many high-profile Romans were rounded up and executed. His former adviser Seneca was one of the men killed during those revolts. That same year, perhaps overcome with frustrations or perhaps just too impatient to wait for a divorce, Nero is believed to have kicked and stomped his second wife, Poppaea, to death. He married his third wife, Statilia Messalina, several years later after having her husband executed. Revolts reached Judea and lasted there for four years, between 66 A.D. and 70 A.D.


    



    During his reign, Nero was successfully able to imprint a bit of Greek culture onto the citizens of the Roman Empire, despite the fact that Romans often faulted Nero for his love of all things Greek. As well, Rome extended its borders while Nero ruled. He is credited with establishing Armenia as a geographic buffer between the Roman Empire and Iran.


    



    Nero’s rule came to an end in 68 A.D. when the Roman senate declared him a public enemy after economic troubles and a near-complete uprising caused Nero to flee Rome. He committed suicide on June 9th of that year. The controversy over who would succeed him launched Rome into civil war. As we can see, Nero's short reign left behind a legacy of war in which he could brutalize his subjects even from beyond the grave.


    

  


  
     Chapter 3


    


  


  
    Attila the Hun (410-453):


    The Scourge of God in Europe
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    Rome began to decline following its apogee in the 2nd century, and by the 400s its power fell into terminal decline as corruption infected the government, the military lost its former strength during a long period of peace, and inhabitants of its vast borderlands were indifferent to the affairs of Rome. Centrifugal forces were ripping apart the empire, but it would be a horseback-mounted military leader from the backwaters of civilization that would nearly topple the world's greatest empire.


    



    Known as “The Scourge of God,” Attila the Hun has remained in the top ranks of history’s most brutal dictators for his fierce military strategies and merciless domination. He united loosely connected tribes of the Eurasian steppe and formed an army of over half a million that would directly challenge Emperor Valentinian III in open battle. If he had won, the future of Europe would have taken a decidedly Germanic, pagan turn. Edward Gibbon, author of “A History of the Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire,” described Attila as a “savage destroyer” of whom it was said that “the grass never grew on the spot where his horse had trod.”


    



    Attila began his military career slaughtering Germania's Gothic tribes, a rival barbarian confederacy who along with the Vandals were dismantling Rome piece by piece. Perhaps the most infamous event of his career was attempting to marry Valentinian's sister (we’ll learn more about her later) and demanding half of the Western Roman Empire as a dowry. In all his battles with the west, however, Attila did not neglect harassing the Eastern Roman Empire as well. He held Constantinople at siege and demanded tribute of 600 pounds of gold a year from the Byzantines. Fearing an impending attack, Byzantine Emperor Theodosius II built up city walls that were among the strongest in the world. These walls held off the Hunnic armies -- and every other army for the next millennium -- and can still be seen in the historical quarter of Istanbul to this day. They were built out of fear of total destruction that Attila would bring to the city.


    



    First, some background of Attila's early years is in order. When he was born the Hunnic Empire, which had first appeared in the West when the Huns migrated to Europe in 370 A.D., had grown into a massive and powerful mobile nomadic confederacy. In 434, the empire’s ruler, Rugila died, leaving authority over the Huns to rest with Attila and his brother Bleda. During that time, the Huns entered negotiations with Theodosius II, ruler of the Eastern Roman Empire, for the return of several Hunnic fugitives and to reach trade agreements between the Huns and Romans. It took a year before the Huns and Theodosius reached an agreement, one that was quite favorable to the Huns, increasing the amount of tribute the Huns received annually and opening markets in the Eastern Roman Empire to Hunnic merchants.


    



    In the years immediately following the treaty, Attila and Bleda set their sights on invading the Sassanian (Persian) Empire. Their attempts to conquer the Sassanians were unsuccessful, so in 440 A.D. the Huns turned their attention back to Europe and, in complete violation of the treaty they had just formed with Theodosius II, went about invading the border of the Roman Empire, along the northern bank of the Danube, wiping out entire cities. They were virtually unopposed as the Roman Empire pulled troops back from the outer perimeter of the empire to protect Constantinople. During this time, Theodosius II refused to pay the 600 pounds in gold as tribute, pooling all the resources he could to protect against the invasion.


    



    In a series of brutal murders, Attila and Bleda led the Hunnic army in pillaging cities along the countryside including Margus, Illyricum, the Balkans, the area that is now Belgrade, Sirmium, Ratiara, Naissus, Serdica, Philippopolis, and Arcadiopolis. Many of the citizens were either killed or sold into slavery. Eventually, Theodosius II waved his white flag and set about negotiating the terms of a peace contract. The new agreement ended up being far more costly to the Eastern Roman Empire than the previous agreement. The tribute tripled and an expensive ransom had to be paid for the return of each Roman soldier.


    



    Upon their return home around 445 A.D., Bleda died, leaving Attila the sole ruler of the Hunnic Empire. Two years later, Attila led the Huns again into the Eastern Roman Empire where he defeated the Roman Army in the Battle of the Utus and was able to proceed freely through the Balkans and up through Thermopylae, looting, killing, and burning cities as they went. Mounted on horseback, Attila’s army made use of archers, javelin throwers, long-range composite bows, and battering rams to level buildings and kill thousands. Many times it was Attila himself who hacked his foes to pieces. In all, more than 100 cities were captured by Attila’s army, leaving an innumerable number of corpses, including clergy, monks and maidens, in its wake as Attila headed toward Constantinople.


    



    In 450, Attila forged an alliance with Valentinian III, ruler of the Western Roman Empire, in a plan to invade Toulouse, a pivotal territory of the Visigoth kingdom. Amidst the planning and preparation, Valentinian’s sisters, Honoria, sent Attila a plea for help in an effort to free herself from imminent marriage to a Roman senator. Understandably, Attila viewed her plea (and the accompanying engagement ring) as a marriage proposal and went to the Western Roman Empire to claim what he thought was rightfully his and to demand a huge dowry -- half of Valentinian’s empire. Valentinian refused, but Attila persisted and in 452 returned to claim his dowry and his bride.


    



    En route to claim his goods, he took the liberty of invading Italy. Attila’s army wiped Aquileia off the map. Just north of Aquileia, in the city of Udine, Attila had a castle built, presumably to watch the cities burn. Residents fled to the Venetian Lagoon and Valentinian III sent the Bishop of Rome, Leo I (later known as Leo the Great for his successful and dignified negotiations with Attila), to negotiate a peace agreement with Attila. Tactically, the reasons for the agreement may have been that it would have cost Attila many troops to conquer Italy. Years before, the area had suffered a famine and at the time of Attila’s invasion, there would not have been sufficient resources there to support his army.


    



    Attila and his army returned home. The Scourge of God was in the process of planning a strike to finally take Constantinople when he died in 453. During his reign, Attila was able to expand his empire from the Ural River to the Rhine River and from the Danube River to the Baltic Sea.


    He built a powerful military based on mobility, lighting-fast military strikes, and primitive forms of siege warfare that challenged the Roman defensive system. Yet he left behind an empire that was not built to endure beyond his reign. He was succeeded by one of his sons, who immediately fell into conflict with his brothers over Attila's domains. The empire quickly fell apart as it was no longer led by the brutal and shrewd tactician that produced its meteoric rise. Attila left a legacy of brutality as he worked to annihilate the Roman Empire - but little else.


    

  


  
     Chapter 4


    


  


  
    Genghis Khan (1162-1227):


    Enemy of Empires -- And Atmospheric Carbon?
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    In 2011 a team of ecologists from the Carnegie Institute made a startling discovery. They determined that an event between the 13th and 14th centuries caused such widespread death and destruction that millions of acres of cultivated land returned to forest, causing global carbon levels to plummet. This event was bigger than the fall of China's Ming Dynasty or even the Black Death. The team said this event was not produced by nature and actually the first, and only case of successful man-made global cooling. It was not hard to guess who was responsible: Genghis Khan and his descendants triggered 40 million deaths in this period, making him one of the bloodiest, and ironically, the greenest, dictators in history.


    



    Through his battles and systematic slaughter, he removed 700 million tons of carbon from the atmosphere, equivalent to the amount released from one year of gasoline use today. Massive depopulation in the domains of his conquest, which covered 22 percent of the earth, resulted in the return of forests and their scrubbing of carbon from the atmosphere. While most environmentalists of today would not approve of his methods (except for some neo-Mathusians such as Sir David Attenborough, who in January 2013 lambasted humans as a “plague on the earth”), they cannot deny that his methods achieved what carbon offsets and gas mileage standards have not. How did a tyrant whose influence was felt all the way through the earth's atmosphere rise to power and accomplish such far-reaching results?


    



    Legend has it Temujin was born clutching a blood clot in his palm, a sign which, according to Mongol folklore, certainly foretold of his power from birth. While his reign should technically have begun when he was just nine years old, it wasn’t until he was 16 that Temujin (later known as Genghis) established himself as a stealthy and cunning warrior, and warranted faith as a leader and eventually as emperor of the Mongol Empire.


    



    Temujin was born in 1162 into the Borjigin clan, of which his father, Yesuhkei, was leader. As was the clan’s tradition, Temujin was due to be married at 12 years old to a girl from the Ongirrat tribe. At the age of nine Temujin’s father took him to serve the family of his bride-to-be. On the return trip home, his father was poisoned by members of a rival tribe who coaxed him into partaking in what he thought was a conciliatory drinking of fermented horse milk -- a popular beverage on the Central Asian Steppe. Hearing of his father’s death, Temujin returned home but his fellow clansmen would not hear of submitting to the leadership of a child.


    



    In the years following his father’s death, it was Temujin’s mother who taught him the importance of forging the right alliances. His family was ostracized and had to survive for years on their own by hunting and gathering fruit to eat. When he was 16 years old, Temujin returned to take his bride, Borte Ujin. Shortly after they wed, Borte was kidnapped by members of the Merkit tribe and given to their chieftain as a wife. This event proved to be the catalyst to launch Temujin's military career. In a short-lived alliance with Ong-Khan, an ally of his father’s, and Jamuka, Temujin aligned a group of men to help him defeat the Merkits and retrieve his wife. The recovery allowed Temujin to build a support base and his popularity continued to grow. In light of his new-found power, Jamuka and Ong-Khan declared war against Temujin, a war which Temujin won.


    



    Temujin’s personal strength was in understanding the power of unity. By the age of 20, he used this wisdom to build an army that would set out to destroy individual factions and tribes in what was soon to be his massive Mongol Empire. As he conquered, instead of chasing off the region’s soldiers and killing the survivors, he instead absorbed each conquered territory into his domain, under his rule. This strategy helped him to expand the Mongol Empire quickly and efficiently, making use of all the talents, skills and abilities available in his newly acquired subjects.


    



    He had two primary directives: dominance and unity. Any tribe that refused to unify under his rule had its leader, and sometimes the entire tribe, obliterated. The “powerful king,” or “Genghis Khan,” set up an information network of advisers, spies, and strategists to help him gather intelligence on rival factions planning to challenge his rule. He used that information to implement smart, effective military strategies that enabled him to build the largest contiguous empire the world had ever seen.


    



    Part of the effectiveness of his reign is that his mission was not simply to pillage and plunder for the sake of getting more money and wives, though he had plenty of both. The goal was always to expand, subdue and rule. To do that, he used the most loyal, courageous and capable men as leaders within his empire. He used his influence and dominance to create peace throughout his empire, a period that is commonly referred to as the Pax Mongolica. Subjects were to adhere to the Khan’s Yasal code, a simple system of egalitarian common law. According to its statues no one was allowed to participate in any act that would compromise the balance and integrity of the empire, whether the act was something as mundane as theft, or something subtle like polluting the water supply. The implementation of this law is an open question, but Genghis at the very least changed legal discourse in his empire.


    



    Subjects were allowed religious freedom in his empire so those from various religions could rise high in the military and political hierarchy. Within his court Genghis had Buddhists, Muslims, and even Nestorian Christians. Genghis Khan also allowed free trade along the Silk Road and connected Southeast Asia to Central Europe. This was the route taken by Marco Polo, when from 1271 to 1295, he traveled overland from Italy to the court of Kublai Khan, Ghengis' grandson. Moral and ethical laws were set, well-known and strictly enforced. Crime was ostensibly not tolerated and if committed was swiftly and brutally punished.


    



    Of course, Genghis Khan is not remembered today for peace and opportunity, and for good reason. To avenge his father’s death, Genghis Khan wiped out the Tatar army and ordered the deaths of every Tatar male that stood less than three feet tall. If he was unable to reach peaceful trade agreements with neighboring territories -- as was the case with Khawarezmia -- the result was that Khan’s 200,000-man army would be paying a visit very soon and, in Khawarezmia’s case, burn down everything in its path before wiping out leadership and absorbing new subjects into the Mongol Empire.


    



    Then there was his decimation of the Middle East and Middle Eastern culture, which resulted in thousands upon thousands of deaths. In the 13th century, the Mongol army marched into Iraq and Iran and burned cultural and religious places of interest. As well, the army burned the crops and committed one of the biggest massacres in history.


    



    Historians estimate that during his reign, Genghis Khan and his armies were responsible for some 10 million deaths, which include casualties from a series of well-orchestrated battles. His high death toll was due mainly to his conquest policy of giving young women and children to his soldiers and slaughtering the rest. In his eastern conquests he eliminated three-fourths of the population of the Iranian plateau, which it did not regain until the 20th century. In the capture of the city of Urgench, medieval historians estimate 1.2 million were killed. His immediate descendants would go on to kill another 30 million, resulting in the carbon offsetting scheme we saw at the beginning of this chapter.


    



    The Mongol Empire was expanded to include Korea, China, the Middle East, Russia, the Caucasus and Eastern Europe. The centralized control of nearly all Eurasia allowed for stability and for trade to flourish across the region. He created one of the safest, most prosperous and culturally diverse empires in history. And the freer flow of information allowed knowledge from the classical period to enter European universities, suggesting that his influence partially influenced the beginning of the European Renaissance.


    



    Similar to many of the dictators under consideration in this book, he was capable of surprisingly peaceful action when brutally was not necessary.
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    Timur the Tatar (1336-1405):


    Stacking Skulls to Warn Would-Be Rebels
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    A recent legend in Uzbekistan claims that in 1941, on the eve of Russia's entrance into World War II, renowned Soviet archeologist Mikhail M. Gerasimov exhumed the body of the Central Asian medieval ruler Timur the Tatar. He did so with great audacity: a sign carved on the grave stated that whoever opened his tomb would have war descend on his state. The sign came from the local superstition that digging out the revered leader's body would lead to a catastrophe. Three days later, Germany invaded Russia. Whether or not the story is true, a personality as fierce as Timur's would certainly have been open to launching war from beyond the grave if death were not an impediment to such activities.


    



    "The inhabited quarter of the world isn't such a place that two men can claim," Timur is believed to have said. "The only creator of the world is God, so there should be only one king in the world."


    The powerful ruler went to work on becoming the king of the world. During his reign from 1370 to 1405 he killed 17 million people, approximately 5 percent of the world's population. He was unquestionably the most powerful Muslim ruler of his day, as he gained complete control over much of the remnant of the Mongol Empire, and conquered both the Mamluks in Egypt and Syria, as well as the Sultanate of Dehli. He even conquered the rival Ottoman Empire; legend has it that he humiliated the defeated Sultan Bayezid by using him as a human footstool.


    



    Tamerlane grew up in the twilight of the Mongol period. After the death of Genghis Khan, his empire split into various smaller states that were divided among his sons. They included the Chagatai Khanate, the Ilkhanate, and the Golden Horde, a series of political entities guided by Mongol common law that stretched from Central Asia to Russia, the Middle East, and Anatolia. Centralized authority in these locations deteriorated and a power vacuum existed in the region. Tamerlane rose to power determined to fill the vacuum.


    



    During his reign as ruler of the Timurid Empire, Timur the Tatar did what he could to use his intelligence and natural military skill to wage war. Often known by the Persian name, “Timur-i Leng,” meaning "Timur the Lame" due to a hip injury, the young ruler emerged from virtual obscurity to successfully invade, conquer, and subdue more than 1.6 million square miles of territory. He ruled an empire that stretched east to west from India to Russia, and north to south from the Mediterranean Sea to Mongolia.


    



    Tamerlane put together an army of Turkic peoples and former inhabitants of the Mongol Empire whose major purpose was to subdue territories, slaughter thousands, raze cities and villages and support Tamerlane’s quest for power and political pre-eminence in the world. Unlike Genghis Khan, who at least sought to unify the Mongol Empire, Timur’s goal was simply to conquer, making him a notably brutal dictator who still walked the fine line that separates hero from tyrant. Timur was a warrior. He was also a military strategist -- and a brilliant one at that.


    



    The son of a chieftain in the Barlas tribe, Timur was born in 1336 in Kesh, a city located 50 miles south of Samarkand in modern-day Uzbekistan. From the earliest days of his life, Timor was embroiled in an atmosphere of conflict -- the sedentary tribes of Transoxiana fought against the wandering tribes. Timur was a man who loved war for the sake of war. He did not govern nor did he waste time implementing any sort of governmental structure anywhere within his empire, except to develop more strategies to win wars. As a result, his empire lacked the governmental infrastructure for long-term sustainability and fell soon after his death.


    



    When he was an adolescent, the Chagatay became a sedentary tribe and attempted to burden the nomadic tribes over which it ruled with heavy taxes to support its stationary lifestyle. The result, of course, was feuding. In 1347, Amir (“prince”) Kazgan removed power from the Chagatay and ruled the tribes himself until his assassination in 1358. The next ruler to oversee tribes in Kesh was the warlord Tughluk Timor. At the time, Tamerlane’s uncle Hajji was the head of the Barlas tribe, and he was not at all interested in following the leadership of Tughluk Timor so he was removed as head of the tribe and Tamerlane was set in his place.


    



    By then, Tamerlane had begun forging alliances in preparation to go against the Mongols. He made an alliance with Amir Hussein, the grandson of the assassinated Emir Kazgan, and married Hussein’s sister Aljai Turkanaga. When the Mongols realized what was going on, both Timor and Hussein were deposed and had to run for their lives. In 1364 the two came together again, having rebuilt their following and acquired the resources to defeat Tughluk Timur’s son, Ilyas Khoja. In another two years, Hussein and Tamerlane completely controlled Transoxiana.


    



    It has been estimated that Tamerlane and his army wiped out entire civilizations and killed between 15--19 million people, much of that occurring in the 30 years following the death of his wife. When Tamerlane’s wife died in 1370, he used it as an opportunity to kill his partner and brother-in-law, Hussein, and to rule Transoxiana alone as amir. He then set his sights on conquering Central Asia. The warlord invaded Russia in 1380 and helped his protege, the Mongol Khan Toktamysh gain control of the area. Five years later, he invaded Persia and added it to his empire. In 1391 and again in 1395 Tamerlane invaded Russia, capturing Moscow. When Persia revolted during the acquisition of Russia, Timur responded by wiping entire cities off the map and erecting pyramids made from the skulls of citizens as a deterrent against further revolts. The following year, Timur subdued Iraq, Azerbaijan, Armenia, Mesopotamia and Georgia and two years later, he turned to take India. With an army of nearly 100,000 men, the Timurids plundered villages and lined the streets with bodies. They took Delhi, gaining 90 war elephants and untold other treasures, all of which were taken back to Timur’s capital city of Samarkand.


    



    In 1399, the Timurids conquered Syria. Two years later, 20,000 people were killed when Timur took Baghdad. In 1402, he took the Ottoman Empire and Egypt as well then made the decision to spare Europe while he planned a strategy to conquer Ming China. The attack on China never took place. The army set out and was met by the brutal weather of an unusually cold winter. The unstoppable army had been stopped by a force even more ruthless -- Mother Nature. Timur himself fell ill on that trip and died in February 1405 at Otrar in Kazakhstan.


    



    Timur's infamous reputation as a brutal ruler is also colored by stories of how he humiliated those he conquered. Patrick Kinross relates a tale of Timur's treatment of Ottoman Sultan Bayezit I after he defeated him in a battle that, among many other things, determined the pre-eminent Muslim ruler in the world. It is a good summary of his violent life: “Bayezid comported him himself with dignity in the presence of his conqueror, who at first accorded him the honors due to a sovereign, but later sought to degrade him as a captive. While on the march through Anatolia, Timur had him carried in a litter with bars, compared by some to a cage, thus openly subjecting him to the ridicule of the Tatar soldiery and of his former Asiatic subjects. Legends of Timur's treatment of Bayezid abound: that he was kept in chains by night; that he was made to serve as Timur's footstool; that in appropriating Bayezid's harem Timur humiliated his Serbian wife, Despina, by obliging her to serve naked at the table before her former lord and his conqueror. His sufferings broke Bayezid's spirit and finally his mind. Within eight months he was dead from an apoplectic seizure -- or perhaps by his own hand.”
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    Perhaps no legend of a former dictator has so captured the imaginations of pop culture than that of Vlad III (also known as Vlad Tepes, Vlad the Impaler, and Vlad Dracul -- meaning “Dragon” or “Devil”), the prince of Wallachia. While it takes a sadistic gumption to earn the nickname “The Impaler,” this real-life inspiration for Count Dracula did exactly that when he reputedly killed 100,000 in his lifetime by these means. The use of impalement caused an intensely painful death and was considered a notoriously brutal practice, even by the standards of late medieval warfare, and Vlad III's almost-casual use of the practice formed his reputation. In this method of execution a stake was smoothed and driven from the victim’s anus through their mouths for a slow and agonizing death that could last hours.


    



    In one instance Mehmet II, the Ottoman conqueror of Constantinople, decided not to fight him in 1462 when he saw 20,000 corpses impaled outside of Vlad’s capital of Târgoviște. To further insult his foe, he ordered his victims’ noses to be cut off and sent to Hungary to show his acumen in fighting the Ottomans, who at the time were perceived by European rulers to threaten Christendom. Somehow, Vlad III made the vampire legend appear genteel by comparison.


    



    Vlad III’s reign was marred by his descent into madness and sadistic vices, and his childhood was filled with instability, political positioning, war and atrocities as well. Born in the last few weeks of 1431 in the fortress of Sighisoara in Romania, Vlad’s father, Vlad II, was a commander in the Wallachian army before the Holy Roman Emperor Sigismund bestowed upon him the honor of being a member of the Order of the Dragon. This secret fraternal order of knights was created to protect the interests of the Roman Catholic Church, which included protecting Eastern Europe from Ottoman forces and their religious practices. Vlad's time as a member of The Order earned him the dubious distinction of being referred to as “Dragon” or “Dracul,” a name Vlad Tepes later adopted as “son of Dragon” or “Dracula.”


    



    Shortly after Vlad II accepted his commission as a member of the Order, the Ottoman army made its way toward Romania, with the intention of warring with the Kingdom of Hungary over Wallachia. In an effort to walk a very fine line between the two, Vlad II served a short term as prince of Wallachia for Hungary before switching teams and joining the Ottomans. His political turn-about gave everyone involved pause and his two young sons, Vlad III and Radu (later known as Radu the Handsome), were taken into captivity by Sultan Murad II, and held as collateral to compel Vlad II to keep his word, which he didn’t.


    



    Life for Vlad III and Radu was volatile at best. Forgotten and uncared for, the boys spent many of their days locked in a dungeon. They were abused and exposed to unspeakable evils, including torture. Vlad III’s obsession with the morose began to show up in his behavior as a young boy. It was then that he developed a sort of skill for the sadistic appetite that torture satisfied.


    In 1447, Vlad II was assassinated and Mehmet II appointed Vlad III prince of Wallachia, but in name only. Shortly thereafter, the Hungarian troops invaded, and in 1451 Vlad returned to to his home align himself with the Hungarians. He successfully won a nod as the Hungarian candidate for prince. In 1456, Vlad III began his reign in Wallachia and Vlad “Tepes” (Romanian for “impaling prince”) came to be.


    



    His first act as ruler was to seek revenge for his father’s murder by arresting all the families of boyars (the feudal aristocracy) who participated in the princely feast. On Easter Sunday of 1459, he had the older members of each boyar family impaled and forced the younger ones to march more than 50 miles without stopping from the capital to the town of Poenari. Those who survived the march were forced to build Vlad Dracula’s fortress, Castle Dracula.


    



    Vlad III became well known for his cruel punishment methods, and the term “punishment” is highly subjective and very loosely used. The truth, as history will support, is that some of the ruler’s torturous methods were inflicted without just cause. He ordered enemies and subjects alike to be tortured and killed in the most horrific and inhumane methods imaginable that in addition to impalement included skinning, hanging, decapitating, strangling, quartering, blinding, nailing, boiling, burying alive, roasting and maiming.


    



    One particular event of note occurred when Ottoman Sultan Mehmet II threatened to overtake Wallachia if Vlad did not agree to an annual tribute. Vlad refused to pay the tribute and prepared for Ottoman invasion. He could not defeat them, but employed a strategy that drew the army deep into Wallachia territory. He had the wells poisoned and the villages burned along the way. When Mehmet II and the Ottoman army approached the outer perimeter of the capital, they found a two-mile stretch of roughly 20,000 impaled corpses. The army withdrew.


    



    Vlad Tepes was a clever military strategist. Often times, his shortcomings were simply a matter of limited resources. But mostly he is remembered for his cruelty. There are tales of Vlad having children impaled to their mothers’ chests. One tale in particular recalls an event in which Vlad invited the poorer members of Wallachia to partake in a feast at a huge hall. The people ate and were filled and the ruler asked his subjects who among them wished to be without any cares. When the crowd unanimously answered yes, he had the hall sealed and set ablaze.


    



    Vlad the Impaler was killed in a battle against the Ottomans in Bucharest in 1476. His head was taken as reward and displayed in Constantinople. The rest of him was buried at a monastery in Snagov.


    



    His reputation lives on for the sheer brutality he showed to his subjects, friends, and even visiting ambassadors. In a final story describing his cruelty, a number of Ottoman ambassadors came into his presence and refused to remove their turbans according to diplomatic custom. They told Vlad III that they could not remove their headgear. In order to 'assist' them, he ordered the hats nailed to their heads. Tales such as these, whether or not apocryphal, make for a chilling character study of a sadistic ruler.
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    The Europe that Hernan Cortes left in the early 1500s to explore the New World was dank and dark. It’s capital cities were marked by mud-strewn streets, the rank smell of excrement, and only tens of thousands of inhabitants. And Europe’s antiquated continental travel system largely relied on the decrepit Roman roads.


    



    In contrast, Cortes and his 300 men found in 1519 in the New World the opulent Aztec capital city of Tenochtitlan. The metropolis was larger than Rome, Madrid, and London combined. It had straight canals and roadways that were immaculately clean. Even public lavatories dotted the street. However, as they approached the Great Temple in the center of the city, a familiar smell crept into the conquistadors' nostrils.


    



    They were horrified to see a stone pyramid streaked red with blood, complete with racks of human skills. The Spaniards would later learn that at the top of these steps the high priest would cut open the chests of those marked for human sacrifice and pull out their still-beating hearts. He would then hold the heart up to the sun and kick the corpse down the steps. Captured slaves, women, and children were common human sacrifices used in religious ceremonies. Probably the most shocking spectacle was the number of children sacrificed. Archeological excavations in Mexico have confirmed that children were frequent victims because they were considered unspoiled and pure.


    



    The overseer of this gruesome spectacle was Aztec Emperor Motecuzoma (also known as Montezuma II). Human sacrifice was a tenant of the Aztec religious system, but as a “devout” man, the emperor expanded this system greatly until it formed the backdrop of daily life in the capital. Montezuma consulted his priests on religious and political matters, built up the cities' temples, and maintained a constant stream of human sacrifices. In fact, the Aztecs fought wars to obtain prisoners for sacrifice as much as for territorial expansion, rebellion suppression, or political conflict.


    



    Strangely enough, some of his subjects were complicit in this system of human sacrifice. Many of these cultures believed a lack of human sacrifice would trigger the apocalypse (particularly their neighbors to the south, the Mayans, who have become quite well known for their predictions of the end of the world). Furthermore, these victims would be treated as minor deities prior to their sacrifice. Forensic Anthropologist Carmen Pijoan has noted that as unbelievable as it seems, being a human sacrifice victim was something of an honor, although whether all victims felt honored as the high priest's knife came toward their chest is an open question.


    



    Warfare was integral to Montezuma's rule. During the final years in the expansion of the Aztec Empire, Montezuma pushed the borders of his empire south to Xoconosco in Chiapas and the Isthmus of Tehuantepec. On the heels of his predecessor’s orchestration of the empire’s most significant growth, Montezuma II used his resources to consolidate power in the various territories within the empire. Montezuma was clearly a skilled political leader and administrator. But his insistent demands on his citizens to pay high tributes and his tendency to pull subjects (many, many subjects) from among the general population for numerous gruesome religious sacrifices has arguably given Montezuma II a more brutal reputation than even the conquistadors, whose inhumane methods in conquering the New World precede them.


    



    The eighteen-year reign of Montezuma II began in 1502 after Ahuitzotl effectively doubled the empire’s size. As the ninth emperor of the Aztec Empire, Montezuma invested much of his energy into establishing infrastructure. Montezuma II was described as a harsh despot, which likely explains why no allies came to his aid when he was finally taken prisoner by Cortes and the Spaniards in 1519. While Montezuma II had proven that he was a clever military strategist and ruler, he was also given to passions and superstitions, which, at times, made the seasoned warrior seem indecisive. Yet he did work to maintain a cult of personality for himself, a reasonable action considering that Aztec politics imbued its emperor with divine qualities. His costume was adorned with rare plumage and precious stones. He was constantly surrounded by his 200 elite bodyguards and many wives. According to Spanish accounts of the time (which admittedly were prone to embellishment), he was often carried on a litter and had coverings laid in his walkway to avoid his feet from touching the ground.


    



    When Montezuma II ruled, it is estimated that there were five to six million people in his domain. Over the course of the year, the Aztecs celebrated eighteen separate festivals, many of which called for human sacrifice. In the late 1970s, an article was written by Michael Harner, founder of the Foundation of Shamanic Studies, which estimated the number of Aztec human sacrifices to be in excess of 200,000 people per year. Other sources indicate that it is possible that 20% of the children in the empire were sacrificed annually. Even low estimations gather that more than 1,000 people were likely killed at each festival or religious ceremony, which happened about every 20 days. And, as was the Aztec way, many of those sacrificed were then eaten by noblemen and warriors.


    



    Subjects of his territory did not only have the festivals to worry about. During his rule, Montezuma II changed his labor policies to allow more of the nobility to get the best jobs by stealing them from commoners. Not only did he require hefty tributes, but he cut jobs. The sheer size of the empire that Montezuma II ruled made it very difficult to suppress revolts. He was leader of a people who were simply not pleased with the way things were going and revolts were a constant problem, cropping up consistently in different areas of the empire. Suppressions were bloody events where villagers were slaughtered by the hundreds, cementing Montezuma’s reputation as a brutal dictator.


    



    Coincident with a prophecy that their ancestral god, Quetzalcóatl would return in 1519, Cortes arrived that same year and Montezuma II made the mistake of thinking he was a god instead of a possible enemy to be watched. The emperor sent the Spaniards gifts of gold and silver in an attempt to sate these “gods” and make them go away. Instead of leaving, they decided to stay, with plans to take the territory and its apparent riches. For months, Montezuma II invited Cortes and the Spaniards to live with him in the palace, and for reasons that are still a mystery Montezuma went from being a gracious (albeit suspicious) host to a prisoner in his own home. Montezuma’s perceived naïvete cost him the respect and trust of his subjects.


    



    Montezuma's rule turned to that of a puppet regime, and when Cortes left the palace to fight rival Spaniards from Cuba who had come to arrest him, he left his men in the capital with Montezuma. While he was gone, they increasingly outlawed Aztec religious expression, preventing priests from entering the temples and replacing images of their gods with those of Christ. During a religious festival the Aztecs and remaining Spaniards fell into combat as the Spaniards perceived a threat and locked the Aztecs into the temple, killing thousands. Upon the return of Cortes, the conflict between the Aztecs and Spaniards forced Montezuma to referee the conflict and step out on a balcony to confront his people. It is unclear if he was killed by his own people when a hail of rocks or arrows came his way, or if it was done by the Spaniards who realized that the neutered ruler was no longer any use to them.


    



    Cortes and his men fled the city but returned a year later with an army and captured the capital city once and for all. He established himself as the governor and Captain-General of “New Spain” and Aztec civilization fell permanently under Spanish rule. The Catholic Church established itself in the New World and worked to convert the native population, as the conquistadors looted the land. Through this conquest, in an ironic epilogue to Montezuma's bloody life, his subjects would face death from smallpox in far higher numbers (estimates go as high as 90 percent of the population) then they had from sacrifices during Montezuma’s reign. Aztec subjects had already lived under a cruel tyrant and a fierce colonial regime, but they would suffer far more from microbiology.
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    Henry VIII (1491-1547):


    Severing Connections with Rome, Severing His Wives' Connections with Their Heads


    



    Fewer leaders left such an indelible mark on a country as did Henry VIII. While known mostly in folklore for the many wives he beheaded, his impact on history is much more far-reaching and complex. He influenced British courts of law whose statues are still debated as to their proper meaning, and his influence is also felt in England's religious, moral, and political realms. He reigned as the Protestant Reformation was sweeping Europe and violence between Christian denominations engulfed the continent. Henry was determined for England to chart its own political destiny and not have its affairs unduly influenced by the papacy, which had ruled England when it had been a Catholic nation. His methods were brutal, but he managed to successfully establish the Anglican Church and safeguard his nation's interests at a time when its existence was threatened by neighboring states.


    



    Henry VIII ruled England for thirty-eight years while retaining significant levels of popularity and comporting himself as civilized gentleman. What makes this charming, well-liked, educated artist and intellectual rank as a dictatorial brute? Henry VIII had a gift for the arts, but he also had a propensity for the execution of enemies, rivals, advisers, and family members. He put away wives, children, advisers and some 72,000 fellow Englishmen. Sometimes the putting away of his family was as simple as denouncing his sons with the sentencing of “I am no longer your father!” or his wives with “I do not wish to be your husband!”


    



    When Henry VII died in 1509, seven years had passed since the death of his eldest son, Arthur. During the interim, his younger son Henry VIII was largely kept out of the public eye. Young Henry was assigned a few intermittent tasks, but was not by any stretch of the imagination being groomed to assume the role of king, though it was obvious that he would eventually rule as the opportunities for anyone to succeed him vanished one by one. In the four days following the old king’s death and Henry VIII's assumption of the throne, his administration set about hunting for hidden money throughout the royal estate. Henry knew his subjects were not particularly fond of their new king so he made it his first order of business to have his father’s top two advisers executed, then beheaded other members of his father’s staff after reclaiming the equivalent of more than $150 million dollars from those who managed his father’s affairs.


    



    Henry’s personal life and legacy took precedence over his kingship. In those days, having one to whom you could cede your kingdom was one of the most important aspects of the kingship. Henry was unconvinced a woman could effectively unite the Tudor Dynasty. As such, his primary mission was to have a son.


    



    He married his brother’s widow, Catherine of Aragon, in an attempt to strengthen ties between England and Spain. After multiple pregnancies, Catherine gave birth to two living children, only one of whom survived, Princess Mary. One of the king’s mistresses, Elizabeth Blount, gave birth to an illegitimate son, but it would have been too much trouble to have that son legitimized through the Church. Instead, Henry divorced Catherine under the grounds that she had consummated her marriage to Arthur years before and, despite the fact that the Catholic Church did not authorize the remarriage, Henry made Anne Boleyn his wife. Catherine was stripped of her title as queen, and her daughter Mary declared illegitimate. Anne gave birth to Princess Elizabeth, but had multiple other pregnancies that either resulted in miscarriages or stillbirths. Because she was unsuccessful in producing for him an heir, the king wanted out of his marriage to Anne. He falsely accused the queen of infidelity and had five men, including her own brother, murdered for defiling his bed. The queen was also executed.


    



    His subjects were increasingly displeased with the king’s outlandish display of unchristian behavior, but no one was allowed to speak against the king’s multiple marriages. The religious community, too, was in an uproar over the king’s multiple divorces and unsanctioned marriages. So the king, not wanting to be bothered by their opinions and finger-pointing, had dissenting clergy killed.


    



    The king’s new wife Jane Seymour was made queen. Jane gave birth to a son, Prince Edward, but she died only a few days later from an infection. The king then remarried but quickly annulled his marriage to Anne of Cleaves, whom he thought was unattractive after meeting her. His next wife was Catherine Howard, who was beheaded after being rightfully found guilty of adultery. His last wife, Catherine Parr, helped the king to reconcile his relationship with his first two daughters, Mary and Elizabeth.


    



    Henry VIII’s problems with the Catholic Church were largely of his own making. The church did not support his desire to divorce and remarry at will, particularly since the church's ability to sanction royal marriages made it a major power broker in Europe. Nor did the church support his murderous exploits to make sure he retained the autonomy to marry as he wished. When he broke off from the Catholic Church in 1534, he didn’t change the official church doctrines, but declared himself the supreme head of the Church of England and exercised papal authority over the newly-minted Anglican Church. Hundreds of thousands of England’s practicing Catholics were dissatisfied with the decision and those who did not go along with it (including John Fisher- Bishop of Rochester, and Thomas More, who had been the king’s hero and close friend) risked execution.


    



    This event, known as the English Reformation, resulted in the closing down monasteries that had been supporting the poor and launching a widespread uprising called the Pilgrimage of Grace in which tens of thousands of rebels participated, led by Robert Aske. Aske was later executed and his body chained to the walls York Castle as a warning to others. A long list of rebel leaders were also killed including Sir Robert Constable, parliamentarian Thomas Moigne, Lord Darcy, Bigod, Sir William Constable, Sir Stephen Hamerton, Sir William Lumley, Sir Jon Constable and a slew of abbots, monks and priests. Despite his strong support of the English Reformation, Thomas Cromwell, who had been the king’s adviser for years, fell out of the king’s good graces and was convicted of treason and a list of other charges, fueled in large part by Cromwell’s insistence that the king go through with his marriage to Anne of Cleaves.


    



    In the later years of his rule, the king’s morbid obesity, increasing irritability and suspected madness seemed to write the epitaph for which he is still remembered. The handsome young man who was eagerly received in 1509, had by 1540 come to be described by French Ambassador Charles de Marillac as “so covetous that all the riches in the world would not satisfy him.” The brutality of Henry VIII seemed to lie in the fact that no one was ever really safe from him. No title or position -- whether adviser, friend, child or wife -- could exempt one from indictment and execution.


    



    Following Henry’s death, three of his children ruled after him. It was his daughter, Elizabeth I who served as the last ruler of the Tudor dynasty. She is widely held to be one of the greatest monarchs of all time and has a far better reputation than her father.


    



    Yet for all the violence committed in Henry's lifetime, many historians believe that his actions were done out of expediency in a time of rebellion and social turbulence rather than out of a cruel will. Had he not taken extreme actions and conducted an occasional execution, they argue, the effects of the Reformation and the chaotic transformation of England from a medieval state to a nascent world empire could have engulfed the island into chaos. Whether society made Henry brutal or he made society brutal is an enigma, but a good case can be made for the former explanation. A.F. Pollard argues such a caste in his masterful biography of Henry VIII:


    



    “Yet it is probable that Henry's personal influence and personal action averted greater evils than those they provoked. Without him, the storm of the Reformation would still have burst over England; without him, it might have been far more terrible. Every drop of blood shed under Henry VIII might have been a river under a feebler king. Instead of a stray execution here and there, conducted always with a scrupulous regard for legal forms, wars of religion might have desolated the land and swept away thousands of lives. London saw many a hideous sight in Henry's reign, but it had no cause to envy the Catholic capitals which witnessed the sack of Rome and the massacre of St. Bartholomew; for all Henry's iniquities, multiplied manifold, would not equal the volume of murder and sacrilege wrought at Rome in May, 1527 [The Sack of Rome], or at Paris in August, 1572 [The St. Bartholomew's Day Massacre]. From such orgies of violence and crime, England was saved by the strong right arm and the iron will of her Tudor king. 'He is,' said Wolsey after his fall, 'a prince of royal courage, and he hath a princely heart; and rather than he will miss or want part of his appetite he will hazard the loss of one-half of his kingdom.'“
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    What becomes of a boy who is orphaned at seven, horribly neglected, uneducated, mistreated and reared in the throes of consecutive revolutions? Or better, what happens to the people he rules when he becomes Tsar?


    



    The fifty-one year reign of Ivan Vasilyevich, better known as Ivan the Terrible, creates an interesting case study on Lord Acton's formulation that absolutely power tends to corrupt absolutely. He earned his nickname through iron-handed policies that were influenced by the paranoia and mental instability that plagued his later years. His rule can be divided into a period of stability verses a period of acute mental illness, and historians mostly concur that his more brutal policies against his enemies and his subjects began when his mental illness took full effect.


    



    While his methods of rule have come under heavy scrutiny by historians, his effectiveness as a ruler has not. The Russia of Ivan IV's youth was known as the Dutchy of Moscow and had fewer than three million subjects. It still contended with the Muslim khanate successor states of Genghis Khan's empire and was continually at risk of its borderland subjects being captured in raids and sold in the Central Asian slave markets. Ivan left behind the Tsardom of Russia, nearly doubling the state's population in his lifetime, capturing Kazan, Astrakhan, and Siberia, giving him complete control of the Volga River, access to the Caspian Sea. Through these acquisitions, he turned Russia into a multi-ethnic, multi-religious empire. Perhaps foreseeing the growing global clout of Russia, Ivan declared himself “Tsar” when he assumed the throne at age 17, rather than the customary title of Grand Duke.


    



    Ivan IV was the son of Vasily III Ivanovich by his second wife Helena Glinskaya. Vasily III served as grand duke of Muscovy, but died when Ivan was just three years old, thrusting the toddler into the middle of a contentious and ongoing grab for his power. His mother, Helena Gliskaya died when he was just seven and after her death, no one showed an interest in ensuring his well-being against the whims and self-serving needs of those surrounding him. A succession of boyars who ruled on his behalf until he was 14 years old created for Ivan IV a populace with a deep-seated resentment and mistrust of the ruling class.


    



    Glimpses into his ugly rampage could be traced back to his time as a child when Ivan IV would stand at the top of the ramparts that surrounded the Kremlin and hurl cats and dogs from the roof. Or, as the legend goes, in later years when he had the eyes of the chief architect of St. Basil gouged out to prevent him from constructing anything that bested the structure in beauty. When he finally took his place as Grand Duke in 1544, his first order of business was to have the boyars around him executed. In 1546, he announced himself as the first Russian tsar and immediately chose for himself a wife, Anastasia Zakharina-Koshkina of the noble Romanov family.


    



    During the first years of his rule as tsar, Ivan IV demonstrated a sudden and uncharacteristic commitment to morality. He was both transparent about and repentant for his former wrongs. In the first ever national assembly in 1550, the young Russian Tsar, who was by now only 20 years old, vowed that going forward, he would work to rule Russia justly and for a time he did. In 1553, Ivan fell deathly ill and eventually recovered. But in 1560, Ivan’s hand-picked trusted advisers Sylvester and Adashev left his charge. Not long after, his loving companion Anastasia died along with his son, Demetrius. And the final blow was his loss of his one true friend, Prince Kurbsky. It was at that point that Ivan’s wrath seemed to be kindled.


    



    Some historians believe that somewhere around the year 1553, Ivan may have contracted a terminal illness. It was then that he began showing definite signs of mental deterioration. Losing those whom he trusted while grappling with his own mortality would certainly be enough for any 20-something to handle. For Ivan, that included an irrepressible fear that everyone was against him. In 1565, Ivan isolated himself from much of his empire and created what he referred to as the oprichina or "separate estate." The oprichina was a selection of specific territories within his domain whose revenues were reassigned to specifically underwrite his new lifestyle. He broke much of the remaining power of the Muscovite boyars, exiling many of them to Siberia.


    



    His new estate, the oprichina, retained its own army and he had a specific selection of advisers called the oprichniki, with whom he spoke, though he did not particularly trust them. This group's primary goal was to retain Ivan's power, and they were allowed to loot, rape, torture, and kill with the permission of the tsar. The oprichniki would be responsible for many of the most notorious atrocities committed during Ivan's reign. The Russian council was still charged with the day to day administration of the empire, but those outside of the oprichina, the zemshchina, were not allowed to contact the tsar except in the most pressing of circumstances. Those who spoke against the oprichina were under the threat of execution and any who approached the paranoid ruler often were killed as well. Ivan’s isolation left members of the oprichniki with the freedom to do what they pleased to those outside of Ivan’s special circle of friends.


    



    The Massacre of Novgorod is one of the most well-known demonstrations of Ivan’s mental instability, paranoia and brutality. In 1569, Ivan removed thousands of people from Novgorod and Pskov (the neighboring territory to the west) to eliminate the possibility of treason by siding with Poland, a rival state to the west that blocked Ivan's movements in that direction. He executed anyone that he even thought might pose a threat to his rule. He had taken a similar action the year before by executing more than 100 members of the boyar council and their families. However, sometimes he slaughtered in response to a threat that only existed in his mind. This may also have been the case in Novgorod.


    



    Ivan and his oprichina launched an all-out attack on Novgorod in response to rumors of treason. On January 2, the tsar’s troops arrived and constructed a barrier around the city through which no one could escape. They also were instructed to retrieve any and all treasures from the monasteries surrounding the city and to beat and/or jail the clergy. When Ivan arrived on January 6, he had 1500 musketeers in tow. The next day all of the clergy who had been captured in the days before -- about 500 in all - were beaten to death by Ivan’s army. Next, the priests and deacons from local churches were rounded up and flogged from dusk until dawn. Their churches were looted. Over a five-week period, Ivan issued a daily round-up of the citizens of Novgorod and systematically slaughtered them. Ivan had the fields and crops of Novgorod and surrounding areas burned. The cattle were killed, the towns were destroyed and the churches, manor houses and warehouses were looted and left roofless. And when the few survivors left in Novgorod were finally allowed to begin rebuilding their homes, none of the accusations of treason had even been confirmed. A total of 60,000 died in the massacre.


    



    In 1571 the Crimean Tatars, which had not been completely subdued after their conquest (a common problem with conquering semi-nomadic populations) raided Moscow. Many citizens were kidnapped and taken to the slave market, and much of the city was burned. Up to 80,000 Muscovites were killed as the Tatars had numbers of 40,000 while Moscow's garrison only held 6,000 troops due to Russia's ongoing Livonian war. Because Ivan's oprichniks failing to repel these forces, he abolished the oprichnina and officially disbanded his oprichniks.


    



    For Ivan, things got worse personally when he inadvertently killed his son. During a fight with his daughter-in-law over a dress he didn’t like, Ivan beat her so badly that she miscarried. When his son tried to intervene, Ivan killed him as well. So wrought was he over the deaths of his successor and the would-be tsaravich that he fell into a deep depression, one from which his followers did not know if he could recover. A few short years later, in 1584, Ivan fell ill during a chess game. On his death bed he took up holy orders and was sworn in as a monk, perhaps as a late attempt to find propitiation for his sins.


    



    Similar to many of the other brutal leaders in this book, Ivan committed many terrible acts, but his legacy is indissolubly connected with the modern nation that descended from his rule. He centralized the power of Russia's imperial center by marginalizing the boyars through the creation of the oprichnina. Through this mechanism he could elevate his common subjects, bypass the aristocratic system, and directly appoint political figures. His private guard that acted as a means of political control was a motif found in later Russian rulers such as Peter the Great, Lenin, and Stalin. Furthermore, a stronger, centralized rule enabled the Russian Empire to maintain control over its far-flung land holdings, which by the nineteenth century stretched to the Pacific Ocean, encompassed all of Central Asia, and went down into Eastern Europe. That Russian tsars could control such vast land holdings before railroads, modern communication and anything more than primitive technology would have been impossible without the political infrastructure created by Ivan.


    



    But like many of the other rulers in the book, his brutality was only possible because he had the consent of his subjects. His violent acts were mainly committed against the aristocratic boyars, many of which exploited the peasants, and against the Tatars that threatened them with their frequent raids. As Waliszewski and Loyd explain in their biography of Ivan, as he stood, with all his faults, crimes, weaknesses and his failures, ultimately Ivan was popular, and all the popular sympathies were with him. When he indulged in savage acts of violence over the corpses of the vanquished Tatars, or handed one of his boyars over to the executioner on the merest hint of suspicion, the masses were on his side. They applauded the carnage, and rejoice in their master's joy. Even when they could not applaud, they shut their eyes respectfully, religiously, and cast a mantle of fictional decency over acts that were actually revolting.


    Indirectly, the masses were complicit with Ivan's crimes.


    

  


  
     Chapter 10


    


  


  
    Maximilien de Robespierre (1758-1794):


    The Enlightenment’s Butcher
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    Students of philosophy and history think of the Age of Enlightenment as Western Civilization’s glorious transition from the religious-based ignorance of the Middle Ages to modern-day secularism. What they do not learn, however, is that Enlightenment-era anti-rationalists, namely Maximilien de Robespierre, launched campaigns of widespread death and violence in the name of human advancement.


    



    Robespierre was a student of Jacques Rousseau, who rejected the rationalist-based thought of the Enlightenment. According to Rousseau, feelings were a more reliable guide than reason. This notion was coupled with his faith-based belief in God and the conviction that all civil society must see their leaders as having religious power. If the people believed their leaders acted out of divine sentiment rather than reason, then the people would follow them. For Rousseau, the content of the belief did not have to correspond to traditional Christianity; any collective belief system would do. This was such an important concept that Rousseau wrote in The Social Contract that the state cannot tolerate disbelievers, even if they had personal reasons for this. Capital punishment was therefore appropriate for these people, as, “If, after having publicly recognized these dogmas, a person acts as if he does not believe them, he should be put to death.”


    



    As Stephen Hicks presents in his book “Explaining Postmodernism,” following Rousseau’s death in 1778, Robespierre took up this call, particularly in the destructive third phase of the French Revolution. He was a member of the radical Jacobin Party and committed himself to Rousseau’s call to kill apostates from the collective identity of the state. He is quoted as saying: “Rousseau is the one man who, through the loftiness of his soul and the grandeur of his character, showed himself worthy of the role of teacher of mankind.” However, the lessons that Robespierre would apply from this teacher were to use the “universal compulsory force” Rousseau dreamed of to kill all those who did not agree with the extremist aims of a French Republic. As a result he and Jacobin sympathizers used the guillotine to kill nobles, priests, and anyone who had a hint of political opposition. Supporters marched through the streets of Paris with the heads of decapitated priests on the end of pikes. Thus begun the infamous Reign of Terror that reached its nadir with the 1793 executions of Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette, and it would not end until Robespierre's execution.


    



    Born in 1758, Maxilimilien Marie Isidore de Robespierre hailed from Arras, France where he later served as a lawyer, opinion writer and the self-appointed public consciousness, touting the virtues of political change. Considered an extremist by many, Robespierre was vocal about his opinions very early in his public career. He was a strong advocate of equality and the dignity of all men. He rebuked the practice of slavery and was a proponent for basic human rights, not just the rights and privileges of property owners. His views naturally won him favor with the Jacobins, a radical political club committed to pursuing egalitarianism. Robespierre and his Jacobin cohorts escorted France into the Reign of Terror.


    



    In 1788, Robespierre was elected to the Estates General, the French legislature, where he served until 1791. He often delivered speeches extolling the virtues of equality and morality. He was a harsh critic of King Louis XVI and most certainly contributed to the king’s eventual trial, conviction and execution two years later. The execution of the king only compounded troubles in France. The absence of a monarch sent the country into a tailspin of civil war, in addition to the threat of being overrun by other territories in Europe. In July, Robespierre, along with eight other officials, was elected to the Committee of Public Safety. Originally, the group was created as a watchdog group to protect the interests of France amidst the wars, chaos and rampant corruption. Its duties, of course, included singling out and bringing to justice those who conducted themselves in a manner that was not in the best interest of the republic. Almost immediately, terror was used as a surefire tactic for ensuring that those who would presume to do wrong were swiftly punished for their betrayal.


    



    A moving and passionate orator, Robespierre warned listeners of the perils that would result from ignoring the chaos that threatened to paralyze France from within and defeat France from without. He insisted a revolution was in order. Over the course of one year, the Committee executed thousands of people -- those who were suspected of supporting the king or who had been accused of overthrowing the government. Many were executed without the benefit of going to trial to prove their innocence, or at least to disprove their guilt.


    



    Central to his aims was marginalizing Christianity in society through the execution of priests and nuns. A notorious episode of Jacobin-inspired crowd violence is the prison massacres of 1792. Approximately 2,000 political prisoners, including priests and nuns, were dragged from their prison cells and executed. He was committed in his belief that such acts of terror against the clergy could actually serve to create public virtue: “The first maxim of our politics ought to be to lead the people by means of reason and the enemies of the people by terror...the basis of popular government in time of revolution is both virtue and terror: virtue without which terror is murderous, terror without which virtue is powerless. Terror is nothing else than swift, severe, indomitable justice; it flows, then, from virtue.”


    



    Robespierre and the other members of the Committee faced strenuous and continuous opposition. The Committee’s actions were not improving the way of life for French citizens. The war was over, but prices were still going up and resources were still scarce. Now, in addition, citizens had to worry about Robespierre and his increasingly swift justice. Two of the more active groups who opposed The Committee, the Hebertists and the Indulgents, were adamant that the Committee’s conduct was no longer in the best interest of the republic. In response to their outcry, leaders from both groups were rounded up by the Committee and executed. Some of those executed had once been close personal friends and supporters of Robespierre.


    



    The seeds for his downfall were planted in May 1794 when he had a decree passed by the Convention that affirmed a state deist religion known as the Cult of the Supreme Being. Furthermore the decree of 22 Prairial, which expedited executions by sentencing to death those only thought to be counter-revolutionaries, was presented to the public without passing the Committee. Terror was now an official government policy. Robespierre’s opponents were able to raise enough concern to have him and his supporters arrested. They were quickly released and while in the midst of planning their revenge, Robespierre and his entourage were themselves recaptured and executed without the benefit of trial, much like the thousands that had died in the immediate years previous for “opposing” the revolution.


    



    His legacy is that of a brutal dictator who used the rhetoric of liberty to violently seize power. Despite his role in the French Revolution, he is disliked in his homeland. Today there is no statue in France for him; there is only a metro station in a poor suburb of Paris that bears his name. However, the most terrifying aspect of his legacy that has remained in popular imagination is that Robespierre was not a sneering monster beset by all of his terrible actions. He was not a cynic or a misanthrope. Rather, by all accounts he was a kind, polite man fully convinced that his actions were moral and virtuous. For this reason Ruth Scurr's biography of him is entitled “Fatal Purity.” His true danger came from the sincere belief that his actions were virtuous, which affirmed through every execution and infringement on human dignity. This clarity of purpose would stay with Robespierre all the way to his trip to the guillotine, in which one day before his execution he gave one last defense of terror to establish the French Republic:


    



    “But there do exist, I can assure you, souls that are feeling and pure; it exists, that tender, imperious and irresistible passion, the torment and delight of magnanimous hearts; that deep horror of tyranny, that compassionate zeal for the oppressed, that sacred love for the homeland, that even more sublime and holy love for humanity, without which a great revolution is just a noisy crime that destroys another crime; it does exist, that generous ambition to establish here on earth the world's first Republic.”

  


  
     Conclusion


    


  


  
    Is Humanity Getting Better?


    



    



    Conventional wisdom says that society is becoming more violent as weapons make killing much easier and wars inflict suffering on an unimaginable scale. But is this true?


    



    There is good reason to think that the 20th century was the worst in history. Even those unacquainted with basic history know that Hitler killed approximately six million Jews during the Holocaust and Stalin's forced land collectivization program and gulags led to the deaths of over 20 million. Researchers are only beginning to uncover the full scale of Chairman Mao's Great Leap Forward. Over 50 million died from executions, famine, and death in work camps as the country attempted to rapidly transform from an agrarian to an industrialized economy, forcibly moving farmers to factories and allowing entire harvests to rot. All of these leaders utilized weapons, communications, and transportation technologies to engineer massacres against their own people that would lead to death tolls that exceeded the body count of previous centuries' tyrants by a factor of 10 or even 100.


    



    But these deaths as a proportion of the entire population indicate that the brutality of modern leaders pales in comparison to their predecessors. In fact, this book aligns with other recent studies by psychologists and anthropologists who believe in the startling idea that humanity is becoming less violent in every imaginable aspect. Over the centuries and millenia there has been a drop in war and brutality among world leaders, despite what the constant appearance of wars in the news and History Channel specials on 20th century dictators would say.


    



    This is the idea argued by Steven Pinker in his 2011 book “The Better Angels of Our Nature: Why Violence Has Declined.” He combed through mountains of data, from archeological records to centuries of homicide statistics and court documents to show the global drop in violence. Pinker found that in archeological excavations of prehistoric societies almost 15-20 percent of those died from violence at the hands of another human. Move forward to European city-states and the 17th and 20th centuries, the most violent centuries in Europe's modern history, and the rate falls further to 2-3 percent. In other centuries the rate of those killed by violence sits at 1 percent.


    



    The proportion of people killed by war today is far lower than it was in the distant past. A few cursory statistics showing the extent of violence of the dictators in this book will suffice. World War II killed approximately 55 million people, while the 13th century Mongol invasions killed 40 million. However, with only one-seventh of the world population in the 13th century as there is now, that figure would equal 350 million today, which is more than half the population of Europe. Furthermore, the Lushan Rebellion in eight-century China killed 36 million. This figure equals approximately over 500 million today.


    



    So, why are we less violent now? The reasons for these changes are manifold. As discussed at the beginning of this book, modern nation-states now command a monopoly on violence and reduce opportunities for subjects and citizens to battle against those from another state. In opposition to an ancient tribal society in which a potential enemy could be found outside of one's immediate tribe -- that is to say, everywhere -- a modern soldier must travel around the world to lawfully kill an enemy combatant.


    



    The second factor is the influence of the modern state and how it holds the loyalty of its citizens rather than feudal loyalties that would have compelled its subjects to continually battle with the dozens of micro-states in its immediate vicinity. This combines with what sociologist Norbert Elias termed “the civilizing process.” This process is coupled with the influences of 17th and 18th-century Enlightenment philosophy in which forms of punishment that in medieval times were public spectacle and even entertainment, such as torture, slavery, and cruel punishment, were now looked upon with abhorrence. Due to all these factors converging, the chances of dying a violent death, even in a culture with firearms and startling crime statistics in many metropolitan inner cities, is only one-tenth of its rate 500 years ago.


    



    In summary, is all of this an argument that society is evolving and people are much nicer? Not exactly. While a ruler's ability to commit mass murder has been significantly curtailed from previous centuries, that only suggests that the opportunities to kill are fewer, not that rulers' wills are any less nasty. Furthermore, ruling a modern democracy, or even a democracy in name only, requires consent of the governed far more so than any time in the past. Killing does not bring the same rewards as it once did, according to modern political calculus. Yet, if given the opportunity, and given the notion that killing one's own citizens is advantageous, then this author believes that most modern rulers would be more than up to the task. Political incentives may change, but the corrupting influence of power does not.


    



    Lord Acton, the 19th century British politician, writer, and historian knew something about the connection between violence and power. While English society in which he lived was moving away from the unchecked massacres of the medieval and early modern eras, he knew that the perceived security of modern civilization was feeble at best. Any authority that could consolidate absolute power would rule with the exact same tyranny as those in the past. He stridently warned his readers that they must remain vigilant against tyranny. Brutal dictators of the sort that so heavily populated the past were never far away: “And remember, where you have a concentration of power in a few hands, all too frequently men with the mentality of gangsters get control... Everybody likes to get as much power as circumstances allow, and nobody will vote for a self-denying ordinance.”

  


  
     Excerpt from “History's Most Insane Rulers: Lunatics, Eccentrics, and Megalomaniacs, From Caligula to Kim Jong-Il”


    



    Chapter 1:


    



    Roman Emperor Caligula (r. 37-41 A.D.)


    



    How to Lead by Appointing Your Horse Senator


    



    



    When Salvador Dali set out to paint a depiction of the infamous Roman Emperor Caligula in 1971, he chose to depict the thing nearest and dearest to the crazed emperor's heart: his horse Incitatus. The painting “Le Cheval de Caligula” shows the pampered pony in all his royal glory. It is wearing an opulent crown and clothed in fine garments. While the gaudy clothing of the horse is historically correct, for once in his life the Spanish surrealist artist is guilty of severe understatement.


    



    Emperor Caligula, who reigned from 37-41 A.D., was the first emperor with no memory of the pre-Augustan era and therefore had no compunction about establishing a personality cult, ruling with absolute autocracy, demanding his subjects' worship, and treating his horse better than royalty. According to the Roman historian Suetonius, he gave Incitatus 18 servants, a marble stable, an ivory manger, rich red robes, and a jeweled collar. He required that those passing by bow to his horse and demanded that it be fed oats mixed with flex of gold and wine delivered by fine goblets. Dignitaries were forced to tolerate the horse as a guest of honor at banquets. This episode was but one example of the deranged excesses to which Caligula lived and what led to his violent death at the hands of his enemies.


    



    In the four short years that Gaius Julius Caesar Augustus Germanicus (Caligula) served as emperor of Rome, he built for himself a reputation as a man who was committed wholly to his lusts at the expense of his empire. He used his authority, influence and wealth to satisfy his sexual appetite, build his own ego and antagonize the Roman senate. Such behavior is thought to have been the primary reason he also went down in history as the first Roman emperor to be assassinated.


    As the third child born to Germanicus (the legendary Roman general and adopted son of the emperor Tiberius) and grandson of the emperor Augustus on his mother’s side, Gaius had grown up around Roman soldiers and powerful leaders. His youth was rife with difficulties. In 19 A.D., Caligula’s father died under questionable circumstances, leaving his mother, Agrippina the Elder, to manage a strenuous relationship with the emperor Tiberius. Shortly after the death of his father, Caligula was sent to live with his great-grandmother, Livia. When she died two years later, he was sent to his grandmother, Antonia.


    



    When the emperor Tiberius took ill and secluded himself on the island of Capri, he called for Caligula to be with him there on the island. In 31 A.D., Caligula accepted the invitation and went to tend to his adoptive grandfather. During that time, emperor Tiberius ordered the exile of Caligula’s mother and two brothers. They later died, leaving Caligula as the sole male heir of Germanicus.


    It is said that even in his illness, Tiberius could tell that Caligula, whom he had appointed joint successor along with his grandson, Tiberius Gemmellus, was not suitable to reign. The emperor referred to him as a viper that he thought would be unleashed on all of Rome. So Caligula was assigned only menial tasks and held no major offices between 31 and 37 A.D. When Tiberius died in 37 A.D., the Roman people received their new emperor with open arms, largely based on the fact that his father, Germanicus, had been so popular and well-loved. They were hopeful for a ruler who would demonstrate more warmth and charity than had Tiberius, who was notably isolated and stingy during his decades-long reign.


    



    The beginning of Caligula’s rule went well. He was a strong leader -- compassionate, smart and decisive. His first order of business was to pay off all of the former emperor’s debts. He also honored his slain family by retrieving their remains and giving them a proper Roman burial. He gave the Praetorian guard a handsome bonus, recalled all exiles, and compensated those whom he thought had been wrongly taxed.


    



    Not long into his reign, however, he fell ill and is said to have slipped into a coma. When he awoke, he was a very different man. Caligula had Tiberius Gemmellus killed and began to pursue the sexual appetite he had for his female siblings. He particularly liked his sister, Drusilla, whom he later married and impregnated. Not only did he have conjugal relations with them but he also prostituted them out to other men, effectively turning the palace into a brothel. After Drusilla’s death, Caligula married twice more. Both marriages were short-lived. In 38 A.D., just one year after taking office, he married a fourth time to Milonia Caeconia.


    



    Caligula was not at all concerned about the expansion of his empire, nor did he allocate any resources to defeating enemies. In just a few months, he managed to waste the entire fortune left by the emperor Tiberius, a fortune it had taken the former emperor 22 years to collect in tribute. In an effort to increase the amount of money available for his personal use, Caligula ordered all wealthy citizens to name him as the sole heir to their estates upon their deaths. Once that law was in place, he then began a campaign of falsely accusing, fining and killing wealthy citizens to get their money. He also tried and killed his wealthiest subjects for treason on charges of blasphemy so that he might receive their estates. He levied taxes on everything from marriage to prostitution and caused starvation in parts of his empire by claiming large areas of arable land for his own private use. He auctioned the lives of gladiators and claimed the plunder that soldiers had acquired from spoils during war.


    



    Despite the fact that he quickly depleted the treasury and began heavily taxing his subjects, Caligula embarked on several vanity construction projects. He wanted a giant floating bridge built across the Bay of Baiae (Naples) in order to prove wrong the astrologer Trasyllus, who said that “Caligula had no more chance of becoming emperor than of crossing the bay of Baiae on horseback.” According to the Roman historian Suetonius he crafted a solution by doing the following:


    



    “He devised a novel and unheard of kind of pageant; for he bridged the gap between Baiae and the mole at Puteoli, a distance of about thirty-six hundred paces, by bringing together merchant ships from all sides and anchoring them in a double line, after which a mound of earth was heaped upon them and fashioned in the manner of the Appian Way. Over this bridge he rode back and forth for two successive days attended by the entire Praetorian guard and a company of his friends in Gallic chariots.”


    



    As he rode back and forth on horseback, Caligula made sure to wear the breastplate of Alexander the Great to shore up his military bona fides. He never actually attempted to go to war, but he did commission the construction of two large war ships that eventually burned without ever having been sailed. The closest he came was in 39-40 A.D. when he went to Gaul and marched to the shores with the military with the intent of invading Britain. Before his army launched its attack, he ordered them to stop and collect seashells. He called these the “spoils of the conquered ocean” and ordered his troops home.


    



    Caligula was perpetually disrespectful of the Senate, who, during the reign of Tiberius had done much of the decision-making on their own, as Tiberius was quite anti-social. In response to their disapproval of him, Caligula did what he could to shame, embarrass and humiliate senate members, both individually and collectively. One famous incident involved his beloved horse, Incatitus, whom Caligula clothed in the finest robes, suitable for most any member of the nobility. Often times when invitations were sent from the palace, they were in the horse’s name, and Incatitus was allowed to eat dinner at the emperor’s table . It was also said by some Roman historians that Caligula attempted to make Incatitus either a senator or a priest before the emperor's death.


    



    Caligula fully embraced emperor worship and encouraged others to worship him as a god. While previous emperors tolerated this practice, he allowed it and attempted to require it in the Roman provinces. Caligula tried to construct a huge statue of himself inside the Temple in Jerusalem, the center of Jewish worship. This action would have nearly guaranteed a revolt from the Jews, who would have considered the construction a pagan slap to the face of their religion. Herod Agrippa, the descendant of the man who slaughtered dozens of infants in an attempt to kill Jesus, even considered this a terrible idea and convinced the emperor to relent.


    



    It was this consistent and unrelenting disrespect that eventually led to his murder. In early 41 A.D., in a secluded hall in the basement of the palace, Caligula was stabbed 30 times in an attack led by Cassius Chaerea, a guard whom Caligula had humiliated on multiple occasions. The painful and bloody attack didn’t kill the emperor right away. But by the time his guards found him, the conspirators were long gone, and he eventually succumbed to his injuries. His wife Caeconia and their infant child were murdered as well.


    



    Few sources contemporary with his life have survived, and his legacy is a bit open to embellishment. Nevertheless, nearly all historians agree that his cruel temperament and extravagance defined him as an emperor. They made for a legacy that far surpassed any positive contributions he gave to Rome.


    



    [End of Excerpt] If you enjoy this portion of “History's Most Insane Rulers: Lunatics, Eccentrics, and Megalomaniacs From Caligula to Kim Jong-Il” you can grab your copy on Amazon.com by clicking here.
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     Connect With Michael


    



    



    I hope you have enjoyed this e-book and learned much about the reigns of the most insane rulers in history.


    



    You can connect with me on my homepage at http://michaelrank.net. Here you can find podcasts, blog posts, and other bits about history.
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    Michael Rank is a doctoral candidate in Middle East history. He has studied Turkish, Arabic, Persian, Armenian, and French but can still pull out a backwater Midwestern accent if need be. He also worked as a journalist in Istanbul for nearly a decade and reported on religion and human rights.


    



    He is the author of the #1 Amazon best-seller “From Muhammed to Burj Khalifa: A Crash Course in 2,000 Years of Middle East History,” and “History's Most Insane Rulers: Lunatics, Eccentrics, and Megalomaniacs From Emperor Caligula to Kim Jong Il.”

  


  
    One Last Thing


    



    



    If you enjoyed this book, I would be grateful if you leave a review on Amazon. Your feedback allows me to improve current and future projects.


    



    To leave a review all you need to do is click the link below and it will take you to the Amazon book page. Make it as short or as long as you prefer.


    



    To review the book, click here.


    



    Thank you again for your support!
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